
CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   12 
HEARING DATE:   05/26/17 

 
GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR CONTESTING TENTATIVE RULINGS IN DEPT. 12 

 
NOTE PROCEDURE CAREFULLY 

 
The tentative ruling will become the Court’s ruling unless by 4:00 p.m. of the court day preceding 
the hearing, counsel or self-represented parties call the department rendering the decision to 
request argument and to specify the issues to be argued. Calling counsel or self-represented 
parties requesting argument must advise all other affected counsel and self-represented parties by 
no later than 4:00 p.m. of his or her decision to appear and of the issues to be argued. Failure to 
timely advise the Court and counsel or self-represented parties will preclude any party from 
arguing the matter. (Local Rule 3.43(2).) Note: in order to minimize the risk of miscommunication, 
Dept. 12 prefers and encourages fax notification to the department of the request to argue and 
specification of issues to be argued. 
 

Submission of Orders After Hearing in Department 12 Cases 
 
The prevailing party must prepare an order after hearing in accordance with CRC 3.1312. If the 
tentative ruling becomes the Court’s ruling, a copy of the Court’s tentative ruling must be 
attached to the proposed order when submitted to the Court for issuance of the order. 
 

 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01102 
CASE NAME: THOMPSON VS. THE PATRICIA PITRE TRUST 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL ANSWERS TO FORM AND SPECIAL INTERROGS. 
FILED BY PATRICIA PITRE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion to compel answers to interrogatories is granted.  Plaintiff must serve responses to 

defendant’s First Set of Form Interrogatories and First Set of Special Interrogatories by June 26, 

2017, without objections.  Sanctions are awarded against plaintiff and her counsel, jointly, in the 

amount of $622.50. 

 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01102 
CASE NAME: THOMPSON VS. THE PATRICIA PITRE TRUST 
HEARING ON MOTION TO HAVE MATTERS BE DEEMED ADMITTED 
FILED BY PATRICIA PITRE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion to deem matters admitted is granted.  The matters requested in the Plaintiff’s First 

Set of Requests for Admissions (served 10/8/16) are deemed admitted.  Plaintiff’s counsel must 

lodge a proposed order with a declaration confirming that no responses were served prior to the 

hearing.  No sanctions are awarded. 

In the event that defendant has served responses prior to the hearing, no matters will be 

deemed admitted, but sanctions are awarded to Plaintiff, jointly against her and her counsel, in 

the amount of $922.50. 
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 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01639 
CASE NAME: MAURICIO VS. GERMANN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended CROSS-COMPLAINT of GERMANN 
FILED BY NEW SKY TREE SERVICE, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

The demurrer is overruled on the grounds asserted.  The First Amended Cross-
Complaint (“FACC”) adequately alleges an excuse for not suing New Sky within three years of 
the trespass.  (See FACC ¶ 19-21.)  Whether that excuse is valid will be for summary judgment 
or trial.  New Sky has not shown the excuse to be invalid as a matter of law.  New Sky shall file 
and serve an Answer to the FACC on or before June 9, 2017.  

 
In addition to its arguments regarding the First Cause of Action, New Sky also argues 

the Second and Third Causes of Action fail to state a cause of action.  New Sky presents two 
arguments here.  The first is that New Sky cannot be liable for Germann’s “untimely trespass 
claim.”  (Demurrer at 9:23.)  The court rejects that argument for the reasons stated above.  The 
second is that “Mauricio and New Sky reached a settlement before the present action was filed 
against [Germann].”  (Demurrer at 10:7-8.)  However, on a demurrer the court may only 
consider matters on the face of the challenged pleading or of which it may take judicial notice.  
(See Rea v. Blue Shield of California (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1209, 1223.)  The FACC does not 
mention the alleged settlement between Mauricio and New Sky.  Therefore, the court may not 
consider such settlement on this demurrer. 

 
Finally, Germann has failed to tab her exhibits.  Her counsel is admonished to comply in 

the future with CRC 3.1110 (f) and Local Rule 3.42 (3).  
 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01952 
CASE NAME: FRANK McGUIRE VS. THOMAS BRENKLE 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY THOMAS R. BRENKLE, NATALIE A. BRENKLE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
            Defendants Thomas R. Brenkle and Natalie A. Brenkle’s motion for summary 
adjudication is denied in part and granted in part.  The motion is granted as to the 2nd, 
5th, and 7th Causes of Action. 
 
  “The motion for summary judgment shall be granted if all the papers submitted show that 
there is no triable issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a 
judgment as a matter of law.” Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(c).  “[F]rom commencement to 
conclusion, the party moving for summary judgment bears the burden of persuasion that there is 
no triable issue of material fact and that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  (Aguilar 
v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 850.)  “A defendant bears the burden of 
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persuasion that ‘one or more elements of’ the ‘cause of action’ in question ‘cannot be 
established,’ or that ‘there is a complete defense’ thereto. (Id., § 437c, subd. (o)(2).)”  (Aguilar v. 
Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 850.)   
 
   This is a quiet title action involving rural adjoining properties, 396 Cummings Skyway in 
Martinez (“McGuire Property”) and 400 Cummings Skyway (“Brenkle Property”). Until 2004, both 
properties were owned by the family corporation, Brenkle Enterprise. Plaintiffs purchased the 
parcel previously owned by the Deborah Pregler who had passed away in 2007.  Her husband, 
Defendant Pregler, sold the property to Plaintiffs, Frank and Bethanie McGuire in 2014. Plaintiffs 
purchased the property, allegedly unaware of a boundary dispute involving the adjoining 
properties.  Plaintiffs were also unaware of a dispute regarding a right to use water from the well 
located on the adjoining property.  
   
Issue 1:  Quiet Title Based on Recorded Maps  
 
 Defendants Thomas and Natalie Brenkles’ Motion for Summary Adjudication of the First 
Cause of Action is denied.  There are triable issues of material fact in regards to the boundary 
line and water use rights. 
 
 In the First Cause of Action for Quiet Title, Plaintiffs allege the common owner of the 
parcels conveyed the McGuire Property and the Brenkle Property by grant deeds, which 
incorporated maps. The Recorded Maps, prepared in 2004 by Joseph Brenkle, show the 
boundary line between the McGuire and Brenkle Properties and the easement to a water well 
and tank on the Brenkle Property for use by both properties. (See Plaintiffs’ RJN, Exhibits A, B, 
and F.)  Accordingly, the Recorded Maps show the boundary line between the Properties to be 
30 feet south of a 1-½" water pipe that the McGuires believe runs parallel to the boundary. (In 
the General Allegations, Plaintiffs allege the fence follows what is designated as the boundary 
line between the properties. (FAC, ¶6).)      
 
 The Brenkles argue they are entitled to summary adjudication because a reputable, 
licensed surveyor, APEX Civil Engineering & Land Surveying, identified the boundary line where 
the Brenkles claim it to be, 50 to 100 feet south of the fence. (UMF 14.)  Defendants contend 
Plaintiffs have no evidence to refute information the Record of Survey has presented concerning 
the boundary lines, which contradicts the allegations in the FAC on this issue.  
 
 According to the survey, the fence located on the Brenkle Property is not the true 
boundary line separating the properties. (Decl., of Bob Lezcano, ¶4) Lezcano declares the 
Record of Survey reveals that the fence and surrounding area is located on the Brenkle 
Property.  (Lezcano Decl., 4.)  Instead of identifying the boundary line, Thomas Brenkle declares 
the fence was placed at that location to separate the grazing land from cattle sorting corrals. 
(UMF 8, Brenkle Decl., ¶8.)  The surveyor also determined there were no recorded maps, pre-
dating the survey showing the boundary lines of 400 Cummings Skyway or adjacent area. 
(Lezcano Decl, ¶5.)   
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 The McGuires oppose the motion on the ground the Brenkles’ motion for summary 
adjudication focuses on the lack of recorded maps, but in 2004, the Water System Easement 
map and the Road Way Easement map showing the boundary between the McGuire Property 
and Brenkle Property were recorded prior to the 2015 survey. (Plaintiff’s Response to UMF 17.) 
The McGuires argue it was the clear intent of the grantor Joseph Brenkle that the common 
boundary between the properties would be at the wood fence.  (AUMF 100, 109.)   
 
 The Court finds Plaintiffs have submitted evidence sufficient to raise a triable issue of 
fact as to the location of the boundary line between the adjoining properties and the right to 
water use from the Brenkle Property. (Plaintiffs’ RJN, Exh A, B, and F.) While Defendants argue 
the Recorded Maps have no legal significance, Defendants have provided no authority to 
support this contention.  
 
  Contrary to Defendants’ position, caselaw holds differently, “It is fundamental that where 
a lot conveyed by deed is described by reference to a map, such map is made part of the deed.”  
(Ramirez v. Mookini (1962) 207 Cal.App.2d 42, 48.)  It is held that this is true even though the 
survey is inaccurate. (See Churchill Co. v. Beal, 99 Cal.App. 482 and Larson v. Larson, 89 
Cal.App.2d 846.) The intention of the parties to the deed is the determinative factor.  Moreover,  
Code of Civil Procedure § 2077 provides in part: “When the description refers to a map, and that 
reference is inconsistent with other particulars, it controls them if it appear that the parties acted 
with reference to the map; otherwise the map is subordinate to other definite and ascertained 
particulars.” Defendants’ argument that the Recorded Maps have no legal significance is without 
merit. 
 
 Here, the Grant Deeds to Deborah Pregler, recorded on July 27, 2004 and September 2, 
2004, both include a legal description of the parcels. (Plaintiffs’ RJN, Exhibits A and B.)   The 
legal description references attached maps relied on by Plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs have submitted 
evidence that could possibly refute the 2015 survey.  Therefore, Defendants have not 
established they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  The motion for summary 
adjudication is therefore denied.  
 
Issue 2:  Quiet Title Based on Agreed Boundary 
 
 Defendants’ Motion for Summary Adjudication of the Second Cause of Action for Quiet 
Title Based on Agreed Boundary is granted. 
 
 The McGuires alleged in the Second Cause of Action that on or about January 17, 2004, 
the owners of the property were uncertain and in doubt as to the true and correct location of the 
boundary line between the properties.  Plaintiffs further alleged, the owners agreed that the 
boundary line would be as shown in the Recorded Maps.  (FAC, ¶18.)       
 
 Defendants seeks summary adjudication of this cause of action on the ground the 
doctrine is inapplicable because there was never an agreement between the Brenkles and the 
McGuires on a boundary line and the true boundary line is actually known.  First, Defendants 
maintain there is no uncertainty as to the boundary line.  The Brenkles 2015 survey determined 
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the properties’ legal boundary line. (UMF 31, 32.) Secondly, there has never been an agreement 
to establish a common boundary line distinct from the boundary line identified in the Record of 
Survey.  There was no agreement between the Brenkles and the Preglers (former owners) and 
there has been no agreement between the Brenkles and the McGuires. (UMF 26, 27, and 36.)  
Finally, there is no acquiescence in the boundary line described by the McGuires.  According to 
Thomas Brenkles, the Brenkles have never accepted the fence as the true boundary line.  (UMF 
25; Brenkle Decl., ¶6.)   
 
 “‘The requirements of proof necessary to establish a title by agreed boundary are well 
settled by the decisions in this state. [Citations.] The doctrine requires that there be [1] an 
uncertainty as to the true boundary line, [2] an agreement between the coterminous owners 
fixing the line, and [3] acceptance and acquiescence in the line so fixed for a period equal to the 
statute of limitations or under such circumstances that substantial loss would be caused by a 
change of its position.’ [Citation.]” (Bryant v. Blevins (1994) 9 Cal.4th 47, 55.)   
 
  “Although the agreed-boundary doctrine is well established in California, our case law 
has recognized that the doctrine properly may be invoked only under carefully specified 
circumstances.” (Bryant v. Blevins (1994) 9 Cal.4th 47, 55.)  The California Supreme Court 
approved the numerous Court of Appeal decisions holding “the doctrine should not be applied 
broadly to resolve boundary disputes where there is no evidence that the neighboring owners 
entered into an agreement to resolve a boundary dispute and where the true boundary is 
ascertainable from the legal description set forth in an existing deed or survey.” (Ibid.) (See, 
e.g., Armitage v. Decker (1990) 218 Cal.App.3d 887, 902-904; Mesnick v. Caton, supra, 183 
Cal.App.3d at pp. 1256-1258; Finley v. Yuba County Water Dist. (1979) 99 Cal.App.3d 691, 
698-701.)   
 
 Moreover, “If a survey derived from a deed or other legal document can accurately 
locate the boundary, the policy favoring certainty in real property title militates against 
establishing a boundary by agreement.”  (Martin v. Van Bergen (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 84, 90.) 
“The doctrine of agreed boundaries should most plausibly come into play when legal records 
fail to settle a boundary dispute. That failure may occur when records never existed, have been 
destroyed, or are inaccurate, or when the natural features or surveyors' monuments or corners 
have changed or vanished. [Citations.]”  (Mesnick v. Caton (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 1248, 
1256-1257.   
  
 Defendants have presented evidence sufficient to make a prima facie showing that there 
was no agreed boundary.  As Defendants have met their initial burden of production, the burden 
shifts to Plaintiffs to submit evidence to sufficient to raise a triable issue of fact as to 
establishment of the required elements of the doctrine.   
 
 In opposition, Plaintiffs argue the evidence shows the Recorded Maps were drawn at 
least in part to resolve a dispute or uncertainty regarding the location of the boundary line.  
(AUMF 103.)  Also, the Preglers and the Brenkles acquiesced to the boundary line from 2004 to 
2013, longer than the required period.  (AUMF 110, 111, 124.)   
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 To support Plaintiffs argument that the boundary line was uncertain, Plaintiffs rely on a 
statement by Kenneth Pregler in response to form interrogatories.  Mr. Pregler stated, 
“Responding Party also informed the McGuires at that time that Thomas Brenkle intended to 
conduct a survey upon which Joe Brenkle have previously relied in resolving the property line 
dispute.” (Kenneth M. Pregler Response to Frank J. McGuire Form Interrogatories, Set 1, p. 
22:21-25 (Anderson Decl., Exh. B.) 
 
 However, Mr. Pregler’s statement seems in conflict with the handwritten letter by Joe 
Brenkle, dated January 17, 2004.  The maps were drawn shortly after Joe Brenkles’ letter 
expressing his desire to deed the property to his children.  (RJN, A, B, and F.)   There is no 
indication that maps were draw to resolve a property dispute.   
 
 Furthermore, in January of 2004, all of the parcels were owned by Brenkles Enterprises 
Corporation. When the maps were drawn, according the dates appearing on the maps (January 
14, 2004 and January 17, 2004), there did not exist coterminous owners. There was but one 
owner. Therefore, Plaintiff cannot establish there a dispute existed or the existence of an 
agreement. 
 
 Additionally, Plaintiffs have alleged the fence separating the properties followed the 
boundary line. (FAC, ¶6.)   Defendants submitted evidence that the fence served other purposes 
and not intended to be a monument of the true boundary line. (Brenkles Decl., ¶6.)  Plaintiff 
failed to produce any evidence to contradict this evidence.   Plaintiffs failed to provide evidence 
showing when the fence when was built.  Moreover, Plaintiffs submitted no evidence the fence 
had been built to resolve adjoining owners’ uncertainty as to the boundary between their lands.  
(See Armitage v. Decker (1990) 218 Cal.App.3d 887, 901.)  “Proof of the acquiescence in the 
existence of a fence without evidence of an agreement to take the fence as a boundary is not 
sufficient to establish an agreed boundary.’ [Citation.]” (Bryant v. Blevins, supra, 9 Cal.4th at 
p. 56.)  
 
  “Where no reliable legal description exists, the courts have resort to the agreed 
boundary doctrine. It is better than nothing. But the law should not employ a residual doctrine, 
a last legal resort, to dispossess an owner of his land when a legal means of establishing an 
accurate boundary lies quite readily and conveniently to hand.”  (Mesnick v. Caton (1986) 183 
Cal.App.3d 1248, 1257.) 
 
  Motion for summary adjudication of this cause of action is granted. Defendants have 
met their burden of establishing they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law, as Plaintiff 
cannot establish the elements of the quiet title action based on agreed boundary.    
  
Issue 3:  Quiet Title Based on Adverse Possession 
 
  Defendants’ motion for summary adjudication of the Third Cause of Action is denied.  
Defendants have not established there are no triable issues of material fact and that they are 
entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 
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 In the Third Cause of Action, the McGuires allege they exercised possession of the 
dispute area by actual, open, hostile, continuous and exclusive possession.  (FAC, 22.)  
Plaintiffs’ predecessors-in-interest also possessed the property in the same manner during the 
five-year period before filing his complaint.  (FAC, 23.) Plaintiffs also allege payment of taxes 
during the applicable period. (FAC, ¶26.)  
  
 “To establish adverse possession, the claimant must prove: (1) possession under claim 
of right or color of title; (2) actual, open, and notorious occupation of the premises constituting 
reasonable notice to the true owner; (3) possession which is adverse and hostile to the true 
owner; (4) continuous possession for at least five years; and (5) payment of all taxes assessed 
against the property during the five-year period.” (Main Street Plaza v. Cartwright & Main, LLC 
(2011) 194 Cal.App.4th 1044, 1054.)    
 
 To obtain tile by adverse possession, “The burden is on the claimant to prove every 
essential element by clear and satisfactory evidence. [Citation.]   If one element is wanting, the 
claim must fall. [Citations.]” (Landini v. Day (1968) 264 Cal.App.2d 278, 282.)  “Whether the 
various elements of adverse possession have been established is a question of fact.”  (Sevier v. 
Locher (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 1082, 1087.  
 
 First, Defendants move for summary adjudication on the ground the McGuires have not 
maintained possession of the disputed land for the required period of time.  It is undisputed the 
McGuires did not come to know the property until 2014.  It is undisputed the McGuires 
purchased the property from Kenneth Pregler on or around September 2, 2014. (UMF 46.)  It is 
also undisputed that the Brenkles have owned their adjacent property since 2004. (UMF 40.)  It 
is also undisputed that Brenkle Enterprises, Inc. conveyed the McGuire Property to the Preglers 
at the same time.  (UMF 42.)  
 
 Secondly, assuming the McGuires’s right to quiet title through adverse possession could 
be established through their predecessors, the Preglers, Defendant argues the action still fails 
as a matter of law.  Plaintiffs cannot establish the Preglers’ possession of the disputed land was 
“hostile” because the Preglers used the land with the permission of the Brenkles. (UMF 43, 
Brenkle Decl., ¶8.)  
 
 The California Supreme Court found, “the requirement of "hostility" … means, not that 
the parties must have a dispute as to the title during the period of possession, but that the 
claimant's possession must be adverse to the record owner, ‘unaccompanied by any 
recognition, express or inferable from the circumstances of the right in the latter.’[Citation.]” 
(Sorensen v. Costa (1948) 32 Cal.2d 453, 459.) “The rule is settled that title by adverse 
possession cannot be acquired where the occupant has entered into possession by permission 
or consent of the owner.” (Janes v. Le Deit (1964) 228 Cal.App.2d 474, 488-489.) 
 
 Defendants’ only evidence in support of the fact the Preglers’ possession of the disputed 
land was permissive is Thomas Brenkle’s self-serving declaration.  (Brenkle Decl., ¶8.)  The 
Brenkles were unable to provide any facts regarding how permission to use the dispute land 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   12 
HEARING DATE:   05/26/17 

 
(See General Instructions on first page.) 

 
 

- 8 - 

was given. (Anderson Decl., Exh. C, Thomas Brenkle Response to McGuire Special 
Interrogatories, Set 1, p 15:10-28.)   
 
 To meet their burden, Plaintiffs presented evidence sufficient to raise a question of fact 
as to whether the McGuires’ predecessors possessed the property south of the fence in a 
manner adverse to the record owner. (AUMF 99-102.)  Some of the evidence includes that fact 
that Kenneth Pregler exclusively maintain the property south of the fence until 2007.  In 2004, 
Joseph Brenkle used an appraisal which included as part of the McGuire Property, the grainery 
and the wood shed, south of the fence, which are located on the disputed land. Moreover, 
Deborah Pregler made an equalizing payment based on the 1998 appraisal, which included 
these structures.   
 
 “Numerous cases have since recognized that title by adverse possession may be 
acquired though the property was occupied by mistake.”  (Gilardi v. Hallam (1981) 30 Cal.3d 
317, 322.)   
 
   As Plaintiffs have submitted evidence that raised a triable issue of fact as to one of the 
elements of adverse possession, Defendants have not established they are entitled to judgment 
as a matter of law on this cause of action. 
  
Issue 4: Quiet Title Based on Prescriptive Easement  
 
 Defendants’ motion for summary adjudication of the Fourth Cause of Action is denied.  
Defendants have not established there are no triable issues of fact as to the “open and 
notorious” elements of this cause of action. 
 
 In the Fourth Cause of Action, for Prescriptive Easement, Plaintiffs allege the McGuires 
now and their predecessors in interest had actual, open, notorious, continuous and 
uninterrupted use and possession of the disputed area for five years immediately preceding the 
commencement of this action. (FAC, 28.) Their use and possession has been hostile and 
adverse to the Brenkles’ claim to the disputed land.  (FAC, 29.) 
 
 The Brenkles move for summary adjudication on the ground the McGuires have not 
maintained possession of the disputed land for the required period of time and their 
predecessors in interest used the property with the permission of the Brenkles.   
 
 A party claiming establishment of a prescriptive easement must show (1) use of property 
which has been (2) open and notorious, (3) continuous, and (4) adverse for five years. (Mesnick 
v. Caton (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 1248, 1260.)   While the elements necessary for a prescriptive 
easement resemble those necessary for adverse possession, the successful claimant of a 
prescriptive easement gains not title, but the right to make a specific use of someone else's 
property. (Mesnick v. Caton (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 1248, 1261.) 
 
    See discussion above in the ruling on the Third Cause of Action for Quiet Title Based 
on Adverse Possession.   
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Issue 5:  Equitable Easement  
 
 Defendants’ motion for summary adjudication of the Fifth Cause of Action is granted. 
Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden to make a prima facie showing that a triable issue of 
material fact exists.    
 
 In the Fifth Cause of Action, Plaintiffs alleged the McGuires have used and improved the 
land and used structures in the disputed area.  They have painted and installed a new 
foundation for a barn partly in the disputed area, with an innocent belief in the right to use the 
disputed area.  (FAC, ¶32.) Plaintiffs would be irreparably harmed if they could not continue to 
use the land, structures, and other features in the disputed area.  (FAC, ¶33.)  
  
 “[I]n a proper case, the courts may exercise their equity powers to affirmatively fashion 
an interest in the owner's land which will protect the encroacher's use.” (Nellie Gail Ranch 
Owners Assn. v. McMullin (2016) 4 Cal.App 5th 982, 1003.  The court may exercise its 
discretion “to deny a landowner's request to eject a trespasser and instead force the landowner 
to accept damages as compensation for the judicial creation of an easement over the 
trespassed-upon property in the trespasser's favor, provided that the trespasser shows that (1) 
her trespass was ‘innocent’ rather than ‘willful or negligent,’ (2) the public or the property owner 
will not be ‘irreparabl[y] injur[ed]’ by the easement, and (3) the hardship to the trespasser from 
having to cease the trespass is ‘greatly disproportionate to the hardship caused [the owner] by 
the continuance of the encroachment.’ [Citations.]”  (Shoen v. Zacarias (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 
16, 19 [Internal quotations omitted].)   
 
 “Unless all three prerequisites are established, a court lacks the discretion to grant an 
equitable easement.” (Shoen, supra, at p. 19.) “[E]quitable easements give the trespasser ‘what 
is, in effect, the right of eminent domain by permitting him to occupy property owned by another.’ 
[Citation.]   Such a right is in tension with the general constitutional prohibition against the taking 
of private property. [Citations.]  This is why courts approach the issuance of equitable 
easements with ‘[a]n abundance of caution’ [citation], and resolve all doubts against their 
issuance [citation].”(Shoen v. Zacarias (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 16, 20-21.) 
 
 Defendants move for summary adjudication on the ground the McGuires are aware of 
the true boundary line and knew this fact within 60 days of the close of escrow, indicating 
Plaintiffs continued trespass is willful.  The first factor is the defendant must be “innocent.” “That 
is, his or her encroachment must not be willful or negligent. The court should consider the 
parties' conduct to determine who is responsible for the dispute.” (Nellie Gail Ranch Owners 
Assn. v. McMullin (2016) 4 Cal.App 5th 982, 1003.)     
 
  Here, Defendants submitted evidence demonstrating Thomas Brenkle informed Frank 
McGuire of his knowledge of the boundary line separating the property within 5 to 60 days after 
the McGuires purchased the Property.  Frank McGuire had knowledge of the Brenkles’ claim, 
making him no longer “innocent” for purpose of an equitable easement. (UMF 65.)  Plaintiffs 
have not disputed this fact.  Instead, Plaintiff cites to the exact same evidence, corroborating 
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this fact. Plaintiffs’ evidence included Frank McGuire’s deposition testimony, Frank McGuire’s 
response to interrogatories and Frank McGuire’s declaration.  Excerpts of Frank McGuire’s 
testimony: 
 

Q:  Okay.  When did you first learn that there was a dispute over the boundary 
line separating 400 Cummings and 396. 
A:  Within 60 days after close of escrow. 
Q:  And who was it that informed you that there was dispute? 
A:  Tom. 

 
(Greenspan Decl., Exh. E, Frank McGuire’s Deposition Transcript, 60: 19-25.) 
 
  In response to Interrogatory No. 6, Frank McGuire stated that 5 days after close of 
escrow Thomas Brenkle said he owned the disputed property and structures.  (Greenspan 
Decl., Exh. F, p. 5 lines 13-23.)  In his declaration, Plaintiff states that Thomas Brenkle did not 
tell him where he believed the boundary was.  (McGuire Decl., ¶4.)   
 
 Defendants’ evidence makes a prima facie showing that Plaintiffs cannot establish the 
trespass was “innocent,” one of the elements for an equitable easement. The burdened shifted 
to Plaintiffs to present evidence sufficient to raise a triable issue of fact.  Plaintiffs’ evidence, the 
exact same evidence as Defendants, failed to establish the existence of a triable issue of 
material fact. 
   
Issue 6:  Declaratory Relief—Covenant to Provide Water  
 
 Defendants’ motion for summary adjudication of the Sixth Cause of Action for 
Declaratory Relief is denied.    
  
 In the Sixth Cause of Action, Plaintiffs allege an actual controversy exists between the 
McGuires and the Brenkles regarding water rights between the owners of the Properties. The 
McGuires believe that a judgment should issue under which they have the right to take well 
water from the Brenkles’ Property as is necessary to supplement the well water produced on the 
McGuire’s Property as provided for in the deeds. (AUMF 129-132.) The Brenkles maintain any 
rights the McGuires’ predecessor in interest had to the well water from the Milk Can Well, 
located on the Brenkle Property, was legally terminated prior to the McGuires taking ownership 
of their property.   
 
 Defendant moves for summary adjudication of this cause of action for declaratory relief 
on the ground the McGuires’ predecessors in interest use of the Milk Can Well was always 
permissive and subject to termination at any time. The Brenkles effectively terminated that right 
on May 1, 2014.  (UMF 72, 74, and 75.)  The Brenkles are aware of no covenant to provide right 
to the well as Plaintiffs allege.  
  
 Plaintiffs oppose the motion on the ground the Water System Easement Map and Road 
Way Easements Map, attached to the deed, constitute a covenant to provide water from the Milk 
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Can Well and the steel tank, located on the Brenkle Property. (AUMF 125, 126.)  The Brenkle 
letter purporting to terminate the right to water from the Milk Can Well is not effective.  
 
 “Summary judgment is appropriate in a declaratory relief action when only legal issues 
are presented for the court's determination. [Citation.]   The defendant's burden in a declaratory 
relief action ‘is to establish the plaintiff is not entitled to a declaration in its favor. It may do this 
by establishing (1) the sought-after declaration is legally incorrect; (2) undisputed facts do not 
support the premise for the sought-after declaration; or (3) the issue is otherwise not one that is 
appropriate for declaratory relief.’ [Citation.]” (Vector Resources, Inc. v. Baker (2015) 237 
Cal.App.4th 46, 54.)   
 
   Here, there are questions of fact to be determined regarding whether the recorded 
easement includes the Milk Can Well and steel water tank on the Brenkle Property.  It is not 
clear to the Court how the Recorded Maps referenced in the deed creates a covenant to used 
water from the Milk Can Well.  According to the deed, the easement is a follows:   
Parcel 3.  The right to use and take water from the Upper Dam including a non-exclusive 
easement for water lines and appurtenances for the supply of water to Parcel 1, extending from 
the western boundary of Parcel 1 then left to Franklin Canyon Creek for approximately 70 feet 
through the face of the Upper Dam into the bottom of the dam. 
 
 While the Milk Can Well is pictured in the Map, attached to the Deed as Attachment B, 
no reference is made to the Milk Can Well in the easement description.  (Plaintiffs’ RJN, Exhs. 
A, B, and F.)  It appears the Milk Can Well is attached to the waters system depicted in the map, 
but the deed is silent as to the right to use water from that well.      
 
 On the other hand, it appears from the grantor’s letter to his attorney that he intended the   
easement to include the Milk Can Well and water tank located on the Brenkle Property. 
However, it appears the easement was only for use by Deborah Pregler or family members.  
The letter also included the following:  “This easement will expire upon the sale of parcel 354-
3100-012 (sic) to any party not considered a direct family member.” (Exh. B to Brenkle 
Deposition, Anderson Decl., Exh. A.)   
 
  Since there are questions of fact and not just legal issues involved, summary 
adjudication of this declaratory relief action in not appropriate. 
   
Issue 7:  Prescriptive Water Easement 
 
  Defendants’ motion for summary adjudication of the Seventh Cause of Action for 
Prescriptive Water Easement is granted.  As a matter of law, Plaintiff cannot establish the 
elements of this cause of action. 
 
 In the Seventh Cause of Action, Plaintiffs allege the owners in fee of the McGuire 
Property have taken such well water from the Brenkles’ property to supplement well water 
produced on the McGuire Property in a manner that has been open, notorious and hostile and 
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adverse to the fee owners of the Brenkle Property, for five years prior to October 2, 2014. (FAC, 
¶40.) 
 
 The Brenkles move for summary adjudication on the Seventh Cause of Action on the 
ground the McGuires’ predecessors in interest right to well water from the Milk Can Well was 
legally terminated prior to the McGuires taking ownership of their property. Furthermore, the 
Pregler’s use of the Milk Can well was with consent and permission of the Brenkles.  Plaintiffs 
oppose the motion on the ground Defendants provided no facts showing how, when, or where 
permission to use the Milk Can Well was conveyed.   
 
 “The elements that create a claim of prescriptive water right, like a claim for prescriptive 
easement, include use that is (1) actual, (2) open and notorious, (3) hostile and adverse to the 
original owner, (4) continuous and uninterrupted, (5) under a claim of right, (6) for the statutory 
period of five years.” (Brewer v. Murphy (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 928, 938.)  “Whether the 
elements of prescription are established is a question of fact for the trial court.” (Warsaw v. 
Chicago Metallic Ceilings, Inc. (1984) 35 Cal.3d 564, 570.)    
 
 At issue here is the element, “hostile and adverse to the original owner.” To satisfy the 
statutory period, the McGuires must rely on the Preglers’ (predecessors in interest) continued 
use of water from the Milk Can Well.  Defendants presented evidence that Thomas Brenkle 
permitted the Preglers to use the Milk Can Well.  (UMF 82.)  Plaintiffs dispute the fact that 
Brenkle could give “permission” to use water from the well because the grant deed established 
the Preglers’ right to the use the well.  (Plaintiffs Dispute of UMF 82, 84, and 85.) 
 
 Both Plaintiffs’ and Defendants’ position demonstrate that Plaintiff cannot establish the 
“hostile and adverse element” of this cause of action for prescriptive easement.  The Preglers’ 
use of the water from the Milk Can Well was at no time adverse to the owner.  Either the 
Preglers used the water from the well by Brenkles’ permission (Defendants’ position) or by 
easement in the grant deed (Plaintiff’s position).  Either way, the use of water from the Milk Can 
Well was not “hostile and adverse” to the owner.  
 
Issue 8:  Nuisance Based on Interference with Water Supply 
 
 Defendants’ Motion for Summary Adjudication of the Eighth Cause of Action for Private 
Nuisance is denied. Defendants have not met their burden of establishing, as a matter of law, 
Plaintiffs are not the owner of the affected property.  
   
 Plaintiffs allege in the Eighth Cause of Action that beginning October 2, 2014, the 
Brenkles unreasonably interfered with the supply of water to the McGuire’s Property by 
preventing the flow of water from one or more sources to the McGuire Property. 
 
 The Defendants move for summary adjudication of this cause of action on the ground 
the McGuires never owned or controlled the Milk Can Well.  (UMF 94 and 95.)   
 
 Elements of an action for private nuisance are: (1) plaintiff must prove an 
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 interference with his use and enjoyment of his property; (2) invasion of the plaintiff's interest in 
the use and enjoyment of the land must be substantial, that is, that it causes plaintiff to suffer 
substantial actual damage; (3) interference with the protected interest must not only be 
substantial, but it must also be unreasonable, that is, it must be of such a nature, duration, or 
amount as to constitute unreasonable interference with the use and enjoyment of the land. Cal. 
Civ. Code § 3481. (See also 47 Ca Jur Nuisances § 8.) 
 
 Defendants argue the McGuires cannot establish the first element of private nuisance 
claim—ownership and control of the property.  The Record of Survey establishes conclusively 
the Milk Can Well is entirely on the Brenkle Property. According to Defendants, “Without owning 
or controlling the property to which an alleged nuisance is being alleged, the cause of action 
fails as a matter of law.”  (Defendants’ Memo of Points of Authorities ISO MSA, 12:12-13.) 
 
 Defendants are mistaken, the first element refers to property being affected by the 
alleged nuisance. In this case, that is the McGuire’s property, not the Brenkle Property.   
 
Plaintiff’s Request for Judicial Notice 
 
 Pursuant to Evidence Code §§ 451-453, Plaintiffs request the court to take judicial notice 
of the following: 

1. Exhibit A—Certified Copy of Contra Costa Recorder’s Office Document No. 2004-
0289046, Grant Deed transferring APN 354-310-012 

2. Exhibit B—Certified Copy of Contra Costa Recorder’s Office Document No. 2004-
0341400, Grant Deed transferring APN 354-310-012 

3. Exhibit C—Certified Copy of Contra Costa Recorder’s Office Document No. 2004-
0169771, Affidavit of Death of Joint Tenant 

4. Exhibit D—Certified Copy of Contra Costa Recorder’s Office Document No. 2014-
0169772   

5. Exhibit E-- Certified Copy of Contra Costa Recorder’s Office Document No. 2014- 
0179734 

6. Exhibit F—Certified Copy of Contra Costa Recorder’s Office Document No. 2004-
0249257 
 

 Plaintiff’s unopposed request for judicial notice is granted.  The Court may take judicial 
notice of the existence and recordation of these documents. “The official act of recordation and 
the common use of a notary public in the execution of such documents assure their reliability, 
and the maintenance of the documents in the recorder's office makes their existence and text 
capable of ready confirmation, thereby placing such documents beyond reasonable dispute. 
(Fontenot v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 256, 264-265 [overruled in part by  
Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corp., 62 Cal. 4th 919]. )  
 
Plaintiffs’ Objection to Evidence 
 
Objection 1:   Sustained. Lacks foundation and opinion 
Objection 2:  Overruled.   
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Defendants’ Objection to Evidence 
 
Objection 1:  Sustained, opinion and lacks foundation. 
Objection 2:  Overruled. 
Objection 3:  Overruled. 
Objection 4:  Overruled. 
 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00582 
CASE NAME: KWONG VS. CEPEDA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL ALI CEPEDA TO PROVIDE FURTHER RESPONSES 
FILED BY TERRY KWONG 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
In light of the Court’s ruling of May 22, 2017 striking the answer and cross-complaint in this case 
due to Cepeda’s repeated failures to appear and to participate in this litigation, it is no longer 
clear which of the document requests and interrogatories at issue remain relevant to the 
substance of the case.  Accordingly, this motion is continued to June 30, 2017 at 9:00 a.m.  
Plaintiff is to file and serve an updated Separate Statement of Disputed Responses by June 16, 
including a brief statement as to each remaining disputed response as to why the request or 
interrogatory remains relevant.  Defendant may file and serve a response to the motion and 
Separate Statement by no later than June 23.  The Court understands that in any event plaintiff 
intends to seek sanctions for his efforts before now to seek discovery responses. 
 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01052 
CASE NAME: WELLS FARGO BANK VS. BRAD TERRES 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Wells Fargo’s motion is granted.  (See Undisputed Material Fact Nos. 1-16.)   Summary 
judgment is granted in favor of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and against Brad Terres, also known as 
Bradley Terres and Bradley A. Terres, in the amount of $70,487.16.  The court also grants a 
default judgment in favor of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and against Brad Terres Design, Inc., 
formerly doing business as Exceptional Practice, Inc. in the amount of $70,487.16.  Plaintiff shall 
prepare an Order and a Judgment and shall submit them to opposing counsel for approval as to 
form pursuant to CRC 3.1312. 
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 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01719 
CASE NAME: RILEY VS. SHREM 
HEARING ON SPECIAL MOTION TO STRIKE JEAN SHREM'S COMPLAINT FOR 
DEFAMATION (anti-SLAPP)  /  FILED BY PATRICK RILEY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Plaintiff’s special motion to strike Shrem’s cross-complaint pursuant to CCP § 425.16 
and for an award of attorney’s fees is denied.  The court has no record of this motion being filed 
as a motion to strike (rather than merely as an attachment to a request to transfer the case from 
small claims court to this court) until March 17, 2017.  However, Shrem dismissed the cross-
complaint in question before that, on August 26, 2016.  The court can neither rule on the merits 
of a motion under CCP § 425.16, nor award attorney’s fees to a cross-defendant under that 
section when the offending pleading is withdrawn before the motion to strike is filed.  (See S. B. 
Beach Properties v. Berti (2006) 39 Cal.4th 374, 381; Chambers v. Miller (2006) 140 
Cal.App.4th 821, 825 (“If the[] claims are dismissed before an anti-SLAPP motion is filed, there 
is nothing left for the court to strike”). 

 
The only case that plaintiff cites in favor of his request for fees is Liu v. Moore (1999) 69 

Cal.App.4th 745.  However, in Liu, the plaintiff did not dismiss the complaint until after defendant 
filed the motion to strike.  (The Beach Properties court specifically distinguished Liu on exactly 
this basis, 39 Cal.4th at 381 & n.2.)  Here, where Shrem dismissed the cross-complaint before 
Riley filed the motion to strike Liu does not apply.  Beach Properties and Chambers do. 

 
The court denies Shrem’s request for attorney’s fees.  While Riley’s motion is without 

merit, the court does not find it to be frivolous.  Riley has a defensible (though incorrect) 
argument that this case falls outside of Beach Properties because the anti-SLAPP motion was 
prepared and sent to the opposing side; it could thus be said that the expense of preparing the 
motion was directly related to the withdrawal of the cross-complaint.  Further, a reasonable 
attorney might have been confused about whether the motion to strike was filed before the 
cross-complaint was dismissed. 
 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01719 
CASE NAME: RILEY VS. SHREM 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Counsel and defendant pro per to appear; CourtCall is acceptable.  Be prepared to discuss 
whether this case should be sent back to small claims. 
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 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02062 
CASE NAME: KELLER CANYON LANDFILL VS. COUNTY 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by defendants County of Contra Costa and 
County of Contra Costa Board of Supervisors (collectively, the “County”). The Demurrer is 
directed at the first amended complaint (“1AC”) filed by plaintiff Keller Canyon Landfill Company 
(“KCLC”). KCLC opposes the Demurrer. 

Factual Background 

It is well-settled that the Court is required to accept as true all of the factual allegations 
contained in the 1AC for purposes of ruling on the Demurrer. E.g., Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 
Cal.3d 311, 318. Accordingly, the Court takes the following factual summary from the allegations 
of the 1AC. 

KCLC owns and operates the Keller Canyon Landfill (the “Landfill”) under a First Amended 
Landfill Franchise Agreement, dated September 1994 (“Agreement”). (1AC ¶ 1.) The Agreement 
incorporates a land use permit for the Landfill. The permit, no. 2020-89 (the “Permit”), was 
issued July 24, 1990. (Id.; ¶ 13; Ex. C.)  

On September 22, 2015, the County decided to revise the Permit “to prohibit the Landfill from 
receiving C&D Waste for disposal unless processed at off-site facility.” (1 AC ¶ 2.) KCLC alleges 
that altering the Permit to prohibit direct receipt of construction and demolition waste (the Court 
adopts KCLC’s shorthand and refers to this as “C&D Waste”) deprived “KCLC of a bargained for 
element of it [sic] Franchise Agreement rights.” (1AC ¶ 3.) KCLC contends that prohibiting direct 
receipt of C&D Waste was a breach of the Agreement. (Id.) 

Statute of Limitations Under Government Code § 65009 

Government Code § 65009(c)(1)(E) requires an action “to attack, review, set aside, void, or 
annul [permitting decisions under zoning ordinances, decisions by the board of zoning 
adjustment or zoning administrator under Gov. Code § 65901, and decisions by a local zoning 
board of appeals under Gov. Code § 65903] or to determine the reasonableness, legality, or 
validity of any condition attached to a variance, condition use permit, or any other permit” to be 
brought within 90 days after the legislative body’s decision. 

There is no dispute that the County decided to revise the Permit on September 22, 2015. There 
similarly is no dispute that the original complaint in this matter was filed on October 21, 2016, 
which is more than 90 days after September 22, 2015. Thus, if § 65009(c)(1)(E) applies, the 
complaint is time-barred. 

“To determine the statute of limitations which applies to a cause of action it is necessary to 
identify the nature of the cause of action, i.e., the ‘gravamen’ of the cause of action.” Hensler v. 
City of Glendale (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1, 22. “The nature of the cause of action and the primary right 
involved, not the form or label of the cause of action or the relief demanded, determine which 
statute of limitations applies.” Carter v. Prime Healthcare Paradise Valley LLC (2011) 198 
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Cal.App.4th 396, 412 (citations omitted). 

Here, KCLC has labeled its single cause of action “breach of contract,” and alleges that the 
County breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing found in all contracts. In 
contrast, the Demurrer contends that the true nature of the 1AC is an attack on the County’s 
decision to modify the Permit. Thus, the Court must determine whether the primary right 
involved is KCLC’s right to have contracts performed in good faith, or its right not to suffer 
unauthorized modifications of the Permit.  

The Court finds Freeman v. City of Beverly Hills (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 892 (“Freeman”) 
instructive. In Freeman, the Second District Court of Appeal considered the applicability of § 
65009 and said: 

Although some of appellant’s causes of action seek monetary damages rather 
than a direct invalidation of these ordinances, we conclude Government Code 
section 65009, subdivision (c)(2) bars these claims as well. We do so because a 
lawsuit seeking monetary damages based on a legislative body’s decision 
adopting or amending a zoning ordinance obviously constitutes an “attack” on 
that decision within the meaning of section 65009, subdivision (c)(2). Monetary 
damage claims are just another way of “attacking” enactment of a zoning 
ordinance and, moreover, often of seeking to force reversal of the ordinance. 

Freeman at p. 897.  

So it is here. Some of the allegations of the 1AC appear to be direct attacks on the decision to 
change the Permit. For example, paragraph 2 alleges: 

Defendants … revised the Permit to prohibit the Landfill from receiving C&D 
Waste for disposal unless it was first processed at an off-site recycling 
processing operation … The Defendants did this without an authorized reason 
based on the influence of one of KCLC’s competitors[.]  

(1AC ¶ 2.)  

Put simply, KCLC is complaining here that the County’s decision to change the Permit was 
“without an authorized reason.”  

There is more. Paragraph 20 says: 

On September 22, 2015, at the behest of KCLC’s competitor … and over KCLC’s 
objections, the County Board of Supervisors voted to revise the Permit to 
eliminate KCLC’s right to accept C&D Waste unless that waste was first 
processed at another off-site facility[.] In doing so, the County stripped KCLC of 
its contractual right to accept C&D Waste for disposal or processing in breach of 
the Franchise Agreement. 

(1AC ¶ 20.) 

Like the portion of paragraph 2 quoted above, paragraph 20 directly says that the objectionable 
conduct was the revision of the Permit. 
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Other allegations, while not direct attacks on the decision to change the Permit, are certainly 
based on the decision to change the Permit. For example, paragraph 3 alleges that KCLC was 
deprived of its “right to accept C&D Waste for processing and/or disposal” by a vote of the 
Board of Supervisors; i.e., the Permit revision. (1AC ¶ 3.) Paragraph 3 goes on to allege that 
“Defendants’ wrongful actions” – again, the Permit revision – deprived KCLC “of the benefit of 
the parties’ bargain in entering into the Franchise Agreement.” (Id.) 

After a careful examination of the allegations in the 1AC, the Court concludes that the gravamen 
of this action is KCLC’s allegation that the County’s decision to modify the Permit to require 
C&D Waste to be processed before it could be disposed in the Landfill was done “without an 
authorized reason.” KCLC alleges that the decision was made “based on the influence of one of 
KCLC’s competitors” and “at the behest of KCLC’s competitor.” At bottom, the action is 
challenging the propriety of the County’s modification of the Permit. Such a decision falls 
squarely within the parameters of Government Code § 65009(c)(1)(E). Accordingly, this action is 
subject to a 90-day limitations period, and is time-barred. On the ground that the 1AC is time-
barred under Government Code § 65009(c)(1)(E), Demurrer is sustained. 

Failure to Seek Writ Relief 

The parties agree that with respect to the County’s decision to modify the Permit, KCLC did not 
seek writ relief under Code of Civil Procedure § 1094.5. The Demurrer avers that KCLC was 
required to seek such relief before filing a complaint for damages. KCLC contends that it was 
not required to do so. 

As set forth above, the Court has carefully examined the allegations of the 1AC and finds that 
the gravamen of this action is KCLC’s position that the County’s decision to modify the Permit 
was “without an authorized reason,” made “based on the influence of one of KCLC’s 
competitors” and “at the behest of KCLC’s competitor.” 

KCLC argues that it is not challenging the legality of the County’s decision, but the Court rejects 
that argument, based on the allegations in the 1AC. Indeed, KCLC does not dispute the 
County’s contention that it was allowed to modify the Permit. Rather, the opposition 
characterizes the decision to modify the Permit as “unfair, and made in bad faith in order to 
benefit Keller’s favored competitors.” (Opp. 3:16.) A theme running through both the 1AC and 
the opposition is that the decision to modify the Permit was wrongful in that it was influenced by 
political contributions from KCLC’s competitor(s). As the County’s reply brief points out, that is a 
challenge to the legality of the County’s actions in modifying the Permit. 

KCLC does not cite any authority that stands for the proposition that merely labeling an attack 
on the County’s action as a breach of contract is sufficient to discard the requirement that the 
County’s decision to modify a land use permit be challenged by writ petition. The County cites a 
litany of cases that hold that a land use permit decision must be challenged by writ petition. See, 
e.g., Cadiz Land Co. v. Rail Cycle (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 74, 111 (decision to grant a conditional 
use permit must be challenged by writ petition in accordance with CCP § 1094.5). 

On the ground that KCLC has failed to exhaust judicial remedies, the Demurrer is likewise 
sustained.  

The Court considers that in light of these conclusions, it need not – and therefore does not – 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   12 
HEARING DATE:   05/26/17 

 
(See General Instructions on first page.) 

 
 

- 19 - 

rule on the remaining ground raised by the Demurrer. 

Evidentiary Matters 

As for the County’s RFJN, the Court decided the Demurrer solely with reference to the 
allegations of the 1AC and the documents attached to the 1AC. As a result, the material the 
County asked the Court to take judicial notice of was irrelevant to the disposition of the 
Demurrer. Accordingly, the Court declines to take judicial notice of any of the material attached 
to the County’s RFJN. Aquila v. Super. Ct. (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 556, 569, 575 (judicial notice 
confined to relevant material). 

Conclusion 

Because the above grounds would appear to bar any amended claims however they might be 
pleaded, the Demurrer is sustained without leave to amend. If KCLC wishes to appear to 
contest the denial of leave to amend, it should be prepared to suggest the manner in which it 
believes it can amend without running afoul of the Court’s reasons for sustaining the Demurrer. 

In light of the above ruling, the case management conference currently set for June 6, 2017 
is vacated. 
 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02109 
CASE NAME: McNEAL VS. TRANSFIELD SERVICES 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY UNITED RENTALS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Moot, in light of the ruling on the motion for leave to amend. 
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11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02109 
CASE NAME: McNEAL VS. TRANSFIELD SERVICES 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ORDER COMPELLING RESPONSE TO DISCOVERY 
FILED BY LINTON J. McNEAL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion to compel is denied.  Neither in the motion itself nor in any accompanying papers 
does plaintiff provide the Court with (1) the discovery to which he seeks to compel responses, 
(2) defendants’ served responses and objections to that discovery, or (3) any explanation of 
what is asserted to be wrong with defendants’ responses and objections.  This is supposed to 
be the function of the mandatory Separate Statement, which is also not provided.  Further, there 
is no assertion that plaintiff has met and conferred with defense counsel, as is also mandatory 
before a motion to compel is filed.  Finally, there is no proof that defendant Chevron was served 
with the motion. 
 
The request of defendant United Rentals for sanctions is declined in the Court’s discretion at 
this point in the proceeding.  Plaintiff is warned, however, that future filings in material violation 
of legal and procedural requirements may call for appropriate sanctions. 
 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02109 
CASE NAME: McNEAL VS. TRANSFIELD SERVICES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO AMEND COMPLAINT TO MAKE CORRECTIONS 
FILED BY LINTON J. McNEAL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Plaintiff Linton McNeal’s motion for leave to file a Second Amended Complaint is 
granted.  Courts are very liberal in permitting amendments, not only where a complaint is 
defective in form but also where substantive defects are apparent.  Liberality if permitting 
amendments is the rule.  See Angie M. v. Superior Court (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1217, 1227; 
Stevens v. Superior Court (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 594, 601.  It is an abuse of discretion for the 
court to deny leave to amend where there is any reasonable possibility that plaintiff can state a 
good cause of action.  See Goodman v. Kennedy (1976) 18 Cal.3d 335, 349; Okun v. Superior 
Court (1981) 29 Cal.3d 442, 460. 
   
 United Rentals opposes Plaintiffs’ motion to amend on the grounds that Plaintiff is 
essentially just playing games with “amendments” to avoid having Defendant’s demurrer and 
motion to strike heard.  United Rentals has already filed two attacks on the pleadings; neither of 
which were heard due to this alleged gamesmanship by Plaintiff.  If leave to amend is permitted, 
Defendant argues, the case will not be at issue for potentially several more months.  United 
Rentals also points out the new statute, which allows only three amended Complaints.  See 
CCP Section 430.41(e)(1). 
 
 However, Plaintiff has not exceeded the three-amendment rule, and there is no good 
reason why Plaintiff should not be able to add facts and “clean up” a very messy judicial form 
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Complaint at this stage of the litigation.  There is no trial date, and no prejudice to United 
Rentals by granting the amendment.  An abuse of discretion standard is a high one, and 
amendments are liberally granted.  Moreover, since the central gist of United Rentals’s attacks 
is that the preceding pleadings have been insufficient in factual detail, an amendment proposing 
to allege facts more fully is apparently in order. 
 
 Defendant’s last argument is, that Plaintiff failed to comply with California Rule of Court, 
Rule 3.1324(a)(2) and (3).  Section 3.1324(a)(2) and (3) provide: 
 

 A motion to amend a pleading before trial must: 
  . . . 
 (2) State what allegations in the previous pleading are proposed to be  
  deleted, if any, and where, by page, paragraph and line number, the  
  deleted allegations are located, and 
 (3)  State what allegations are to be added to the previous pleading,   
  if any, and where, by page, paragraph and line number, the   
  additional allegations are located. 
 

See CRC, Rule 3.1324(a)(2) and (3). 
 
 This is untrue.  Plaintiff submitted a document, albeit mistitled, “Declaration of Linton 
McNeal in support of Request for Judicial Notice and in support of Second Amended 
Complaint.”  It complies with the CRC rule for amendments.  It reads: 
  

The SAC is different from the FAC in that all of paragraph 1 (page 1, line 21) 
through paragraph 6 (page 4, line 7) of the FAC is changed by adding more facts 
and estimated future medical costs that were unknown at the time of the FAC. 

   
Page 4, line 8 to page 8 line 3 has been changed dramatically by a change in 
format.  In an effort to make the SAC less ambiguous, the format that is used is 
IRAC (issue, rule, analysis with the fact pattern and conclusion). 

   
The second cause of action (Negligent Infliction of Severe Emotional Distress) 
page 8, line 8 to page 9, line 13 has a more detailed fact pattern.  Overall, the 
Complaint has included more facts. 
 
Transfield Services has been stricken from the SAC, except as referenced in 
the fact pattern. 

 
 This is adequate to meet the CRC’s requirement of pointing out where the changes are 
between the two pleadings.  The court finds those changes to be helpful in terms of adding 
“ultimate facts” and estimating actual damages as well as making the Complaint readable for the 
parties and the court. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02109 
CASE NAME: McNEAL VS. TRANSFIELD SERVICES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE 
FILED BY UNITED RENTALS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Moot, in light of the ruling on the motion for leave to amend. 
 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02109 
CASE NAME: McNEAL VS. TRANSFIELD SERVICES 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appearances required.  If there is no opposition to the tentative rulings on Lines 10-13, 
the appearances may be by CourtCall. 
 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00132 
CASE NAME: STEVEN TRAVIS VS. WELLS FARGO BANK 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer filed by Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (successor by merger 
with Wells Fargo Bank Southwest, N.A., f/k/a Wachovia Mortgage, FSB, f/k/a World Savings 
Bank, FSB). The Demurrer relates to the Complaint filed by Plaintiff Steven Travis and Plaintiff 
Judith A. Travis. This is an unlawful foreclosure case. Plaintiffs are in pro per. The Complaint 
pleads causes of action for (1) cancellation of deed; (2) quiet title; (3) wrongful foreclosure; (4) 
negligence; (5) violation of Civil Code § 2923.6; (6) violation of RESPA (12 CFR § 1024.41); (7) 
violations of Equal Credit Opportunity Act (15 USC § 1691); and (8) violations of Business and 
Professions Code § 17200. 

As a threshold matter, the Court notes that Plaintiffs’ Opposition is 28 pages long. California 
Rule of Court 3.1113(d) permits only 15 pages for the responding memorandum of points and 
authorities. The Court notes that Plaintiffs are in pro per; however, in propria persona litigants 
are not entitled to special exemptions from the California Rules of Court or Code of Civil 
Procedure. See Gamet v. Blanchard (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1276, 1284. Plaintiffs are subject to 
the same procedural requirements as represented defendants. 

This overlength is due largely to plaintiffs’ inappropriate attempt to adduce and argue over a 
hundred pages of evidence filed with their Opposition to Wells Fargo’s Demurrer. A demurrer 
can be used only to challenge defects that appear on the face of the pleading under attack; or 
from matters outside the pleading that are judicially noticeable. Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 
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311, 318. The Court may not consider other extrinsic evidence. See Ion Equip. Corp. v. Nelson 
(1980) 110 Cal.App.3d 868, 881. As a consequence, the Court has not reviewed Plaintiffs’ 
roughly hundred pages of exhibits included with their Opposition to Defendant’s Demurrer. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendant requests judicial notice of several records and correspondence. Plaintiffs do not 
object to this Request. The Request for Judicial Notice (“RJN”) is denied.  The only attached 
documents that are even mentioned in defendant’s brief are two letters, Exhs. G and H, which 
are not judicially noticeable.  The remainder appears to be irrelevant to the demurrer. 

Analysis 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420. A complaint “is sufficient if it 
alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 
550 (“Doe”), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with reasonable 
precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, source and 
extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. Truck Ins. 
Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099. Legal conclusions are insufficient. Id. at 1098–
1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5. The Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the complaint, but 
do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” California 
Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247. “The existence and scope 
of duty are legal questions for the court.” Merrill v. Navegar, Inc. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 465, 477. 

Substantively, the key missing point that runs throughout all of plaintiffs’ various causes of 
action is the absence of any allegation that, but for the alleged dual-tracking violations, plaintiffs 
would have succeeded in obtaining a loan modification or otherwise avoiding foreclosure.  The 
Complaint’s allegations of harm and damages are scanty – but what harms are alleged, would 
all flow causally from the foreclosure itself – not from the alleged illegal dual-tracking.  As the 
Court will discuss claim by claim, that is not sufficient to support any of the alleged causes of 
action.  As far as the present Complaint alleges, even if defendant had not double-tracked this 
foreclosure – that is, even if it had paused the foreclosure while it considered and rejected 
plaintiffs’ application – then plaintiffs would still have suffered the same alleged harms, be they 
loss of the home, harm to credit rating, or whatever else plaintiffs might assert.  If plaintiffs could 
allege and prove that a fully considered application would have been successful, then they 
would allege harm actually caused by, and flowing from, the premature and improvident 
foreclosure.  Perhaps they have other forms of damages they think they can allege that do 
relate causally directly from the dual-tracking as such.  Nothing of either kind, however, is 
alleged in the present Complaint. 

Cancellation of Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale 

Defendant’s attack on this claim centers on the so-called tender rule.  “[A]s a condition 
precedent to an action by the borrower to set aside the trustee’s sale on the ground that the sale 
is voidable because of irregularities in the sale notice or procedure, the borrower must offer to 
pay the full amount of the debt for which the property was security.” Lona v. Citibank, N.A. 
(2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 89, 112 (“Lona”). “The rationale behind the rule is that if [the borrower] 
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could not have redeemed the property had the sale procedures been proper, any irregularities in 
the sale did not result in damages to the [borrower].” FPCI RE-HAB 01 v. E & G Investments, 
Ltd. (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1018, 1022. 

Plaintiffs cite several recent cases as holding that tender is not required where there is an 
alleged HBOR violation. Mabry v. Superior Court (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 208; Valbuena v. 
Ocwen Loan Servicing (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 1267; (2015) Majd v. Bank of America, N.A. 
(2015) 243 Cal.App.4th 1293. Defendant does not substantively address this authority on Reply, 
relying instead on its position that there was no violation under 2923.6 and reiterating case law 
that requires full tender in actions for quiet title. 

Both Valbuena and Mabry hold that tender is not a prerequisite to a cause of action under 
§ 2923.6 or § 2923.5. These case are distinguishable, however, as neither plaintiff in Valbuena 
or Mabry sought cancellation of a Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale following a foreclosure sale. 
Although Majd is closer to the instant facts, it is not clear that Majd stands for the proposition 
that tender is not required for cancellation of a Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale where plaintiff has 
alleged violations of § 2923.6.  The court relied on other defects in the cancellation claims made 
there, and did not discuss whether the principles of Mabry and Valbuena should apply in a 
cancellation setting.  Because there are other grounds for sustaining the demurrer to this cause 
of action, the Court declines to rule on this arguably unsettled issue at this time. 

However, the Court holds that this claim is defective for other reasons.  As noted above, 
plaintiffs do not allege that, but for the alleged dual tracking, they would have succeeded in 
saving their residence from foreclosure.  That deprives them of any defensible ground for 
undoing the foreclosure that has already occurred.  Nothing in HBOR suggests that, if a lender 
would otherwise have acted properly in denying a modification application and then conducting 
a foreclosure, the borrower is entitled to reverse the foreclosure solely because it was illegally 
conducted a few weeks earlier than it should have been due to dual tracking. 

The Demurrer to this claim is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Quiet Title 

The elements of an action to quiet title are: (1) “the plaintiff is the owner and in possession of the 
land,” and (2) “the defendant claims an interest therein adverse to [the plaintiff].” South Shore 
Land Co. v. Petersen (1964) 226 Cal. App. 2d 725, 740-741; see also Code Civ. Proc., 
§ 761.020. Generally, a borrower may not quiet title against a secured lender without first paying 
the outstanding debt on which the mortgage or deed of trust is based. Miller v. Provost (1994) 
26 Cal. App. 4th 1703, 1707 (“mortgagor of real property cannot, without paying his debt, quiet 
his title against the mortgagee”); Aguilar v. Bocci (1974) 39 Cal. App. 3d 475, 477 (borrower 
cannot quiet title without discharging the debt.). A cloud on title remains until the debt is paid. 
Burns v. Hiatt (1906) 149 Cal. 617, 620-622. 

Plaintiff does not address Defendant’s argument with respect to Quiet Title in their Opposition. 
Furthermore, as discussed above, plaintiffs have not alleged a viable claim for cancellation of 
the trustee’s deed upon sale. As a consequence, they have not alleged any legal or factual 
basis to quiet title in their favor. 
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The Demurrer to this claim is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Wrongful Foreclosure 

Plaintiffs’ wrongful foreclosure claim is premised on alleged violations of Civil Code § 2923.6. As 
discussed further, below, Plaintiffs have failed to allege any damages or harm resulting from any 
alleged violation of this statute. As a consequence, Plaintiffs have failed to state facts sufficient 
to constitute a claim for unlawful foreclosure. The Demurrer to this claim is sustained, with leave 
to amend. 

Negligence 

To state a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the defendant owed the 
plaintiff a duty of care; (2) the defendant breached that duty, and (3) the breach proximately 
caused the plaintiff’s damages or injuries. Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 
Cal. App. 4th 49, 62. “The existence of a duty of care owed by a defendant to a plaintiff is a 
prerequisite to establish a claim for negligence.” Nymark v. Heart Fed. Savings & Loan Ass’n 
(1991) 231 Cal. App. 3d 1089, 1096.  

A lender may owe a borrower duties of care under Civil Code § 1714. See Daniels v. Select 
Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (6th Dist. 2016) 246 Cal. App. 4th 1150, 1158, 1180-1182; Alvarez v. 
BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (1st Dist. 2014) 228 Cal. App. 4th 941, 944-949; Jolley v. 
Chase Home Finance, LLC (1st Dist. 2013) 213 Cal. App. 4th 872.  Although there may be 
some disagreement within the case law, this Court follows the First District precedents. 

The alleged negligent conduct here is Wells Fargo’s failure to act on Plaintiffs’ allegedly 
complete loan modification application, and foreclosing on the Property. Complaint ¶ 58. Thus, 
the cause of action seeks to place a negligent-tort label on claims that are otherwise asserted in 
other causes of action directly under various statutory provisions.  This claim alleges no form of 
negligence separate from those violations. The Court, however, is sustaining the demurrer as to 
those substantive causes of action.  This cause of action necessarily falls with them. 

The Demurrer to this claim is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Violation of Civil Code § 2923.6 

Plaintiffs allege that Wells Fargo violated § 2923.6(e)(1) by foreclosing on their home, despite 
having a complete loan modification application from Plaintiffs, and without making a decision 
on that application. Complaint ¶ 32. 

Civil Code § 2923.6 prohibits “dual tracking,” wherein a “borrower’s mortgage servicer, a 
mortgage service, mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or authorized agent” records a notice of 
default or notice of sale, notwithstanding a pending application for a first lien loan modification. 
Civ. Code § 2923.6. The ban on “dual tracking” becomes effective once the borrower submits a 
“complete application for a first lien loan modification.” Civ. Code § 2923.6(c). 

The parties agree that a dual-tracking violation can occur only when the borrower has presented 
a “complete” application for loan modification.  Plaintiffs allege that their loan modification 
application was complete on August 5, 2016 (Complaint ¶ 20).  Defendant, however, points to 
the allegations that Wells Fargo requested additional documents on August 18, 2016 (Complaint 
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¶ 21), and that Plaintiffs received a September 22, 2016 letter from Wells Fargo stating that 
Wells Fargo had not received all documentation from them to support their loan modification 
(Complaint ¶ 23). The flaw in defendant’s logic is that just because Wells Fargo asserted in 
correspondence that the application was complete, does not necessarily make it so.  The Court 
gathers that there are differing factual versions here as to what was received, when, and to what 
degree of completeness.  Defendant also cites some federal cases as holding that a bare, 
conclusory allegation of a complete application may not be sufficient.  In the Court’s view, 
however, it does suffice under the somewhat less demanding pleading standards of California 
courts.  Making all reasonable inferences in plaintiffs’ favor, therefore, the Court finds that that 
Plaintiffs have adequately alleged that their loan modification was complete. 

However, HBOR provides relief only for a “material” violation of the dual tracking statute. Civ. 
Code, § 2924.12, subds. (a) and (b). And as with any other civil claim, absent statutory 
authorization of a cause of action on a lesser showing, an assertion of violation of HBOR does 
not state a cause of action, absent viable allegations of causation and damages resulting from 
the violation.  Plaintiffs have failed to allege that any technical violations of the dual tracking 
provisions were “material,” in the sense that but for those violations, Wells Fargo would have 
agreed to a loan modification agreement Plaintiff could have afforded. In the absence of such 
allegations, Plaintiffs have failed to allege that they were damaged by any alleged technical 
violations of § 2923.6. 

The Demurrer to this claim is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Violation of RESPA (12 CFR § 1024.41) 

Plaintiffs allege that Wells Fargo violated several provisions of the Real Estate Settlement 
Procedures Act (“RESPA”), specifically subsection 1024.41(b) regarding loss mitigation 
procedures. However, Plaintiffs have failed to allege that they have suffered damages or injury 
caused from any alleged violations of § 1024.41. Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts sufficient to 
state a cause of action for violation of § 1024.41. 

The Demurrer to this claim is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Violations of Equal Credit Opportunity Act (15 USC § 1691) 

Plaintiffs’ allegations that Wells Fargo violated provisions of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act 
(“ECOA”) are also premised on their allegation that their loan modification application was 
complete.  

Defendant argues that ECOA does not apply where the borrower is delinquent or in default.  It 
points to § 1691(d)(6), providing that an “adverse action” (the predicate for a violation claim) 
“does not include a refusal to extend additional credit under an existing credit arrangement 
where the applicant is delinquent or otherwise in default, or where such additional credit would 
exceed a previously established credit limit.”  Thus, defendant argues, the statute does not 
apply at all to default situations. 

The argument overreads plaintiffs’ claim under this statute.  The asserted violation of ECOA is 
not the refusal to modify plaintiffs’ loan.  It is simply the alleged tardiness of defendant’s 
response to the application – that it failed to notify them “of a decision on their complete loan 

https://advance.lexis.com/document/midlinetitle/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=f1e07765-4b3c-4dd5-a8a9-b60b742ec18c&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fcases%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A58T9-2K11-F04K-V0D2-00000-00&pdcomponentid=6393&ecomp=g79g&earg=sr21&prid=e1e1be5d-b032-471e-8b8b-78c34f908803
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modification application within the mandatory time period.” Complaint at ¶ 95. The exclusionary 
language of § 1691(d)(6) does not reach that alleged violation. 

However, this limitation on the asserted claim carries the seeds of its own downfall.  A mere 
failure to meet a required deadline is not an “adverse action” within the rest of § 1691(d)(6) –
“denial or revocation of credit, a change in the terms of an existing credit arrangement, or a 
refusal to grant credit in substantially the amount or on substantially the terms requested.”  
Moreover, even if a tardiness violation could otherwise state an ECOA claim, once again 
plaintiffs have alleged no harm or damages supposedly caused by the tardiness. 

 The Demurrer to this claim is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Violations of Business and Professions Code § 17200 

California’s unfair competition law (UCL), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., prohibits 
unfair competition, which is defined as any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or 
practice. § 17200. An alleged dual-tracking violation under HBOR can be asserted as a UCL 
cause of action.  Majd, 243 Cal.App.4th at 1302-03.  However, a UCL claim can be brought only 
by a person who has suffered injury in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair 
competition. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204. Therefore, to establish standing under the UCL, a 
plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., 
economic injury, and (2) show that the economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the 
unfair business practice that is the gravamen of the claim. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court 
(2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337 (“Kwikset”). Restitution is the only form of damages available under 
the UCL. See Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1147. 

Here, the alleged unfair conduct complained of is Wells Fargo’s alleged violations of HBOR, 
RESPA, and the ECOA. However, Plaintiffs’ Complaint is bereft of allegations which would 
demonstrate economic injury and causation. In the absence of allegations that they incurred a 
“personal, individualized loss of money or property in any nontrivial amount” (Kwikset, 51 
Cal.4th at 325), that were caused by Defendants’ allegedly unfair and fraudulent conduct, 
Plaintiff has not alleged facts sufficient to state a cause of action for violation of Business and 
Professions Code § 17200. 

The Demurrer is sustained, with leave to amend. 
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16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00412 
CASE NAME: NARLOCH VS. NSH MANAGEMENT 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION AND TO STAY LITIGATION 
FILED BY NSH MANAGEMENT OF CALIFORNIA, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The Court rules as follows on the motion to compel arbitration, brought by 
defendant NSH Management of California, Inc.  The motion is granted, subject to the 
procedural details addressed below.  Plaintiffs’ claim that there is “good cause” to remove 
defendant as manager shall be arbitrated in accordance with the arbitration provisions of the 
parties’ operating agreement. 
 
 The basis for this ruling is as follows. 
 
 A. Evidentiary Objections. 
 
 Plaintiffs’ initial evidentiary objections, filed with the opposition papers on May 15, 2017, 
are overruled.  Defendant has corrected the technical defect in the “under penalty of perjury” 
language, and Mr. Fisher, defendant’s president, adequately authenticates his declaration’s 
Exhibit “I”. 
 
 Plaintiffs’ additional evidentiary objections, filed on May 23, 2017, are sustained in part.  
The objection to the entire reply declaration is overruled; it is in the nature of motions to compel 
arbitration that the primary issues are first raised in the opposition papers, and are then 
responded to in the reply papers.  The specific objection No. 1 is sustained, for lack of 
demonstrated personal knowledge.  Objection No. 2 is overruled. 
 
 B. Waiver. 
 
 The Court finds that there has been no waiver of the right to arbitrate. 
 
 Plaintiffs argue that defendant has waived its right to demand arbitration by failing to 
demand it within the 60-day deadline established in the contract.  The relevant contractual 
provision, section 5.12(a), is poorly drafted, and it is ambiguous as to whether it does or does 
not impose a 60-day deadline for the manager’s request for arbitration.  On one hand, textually, 
the relevant sentence refers to 60 days only in part (a), concerning time to cure – not in part (b), 
concerning the manager’s failure to request arbitration.  On the other hand, if there is no 60-day 
limit, then the sentence establishes no timeline at all to govern when “the manager shall be 
removed” on account of the manager’s failure to request arbitration.  Conceivably the time for 
removal could even be before the expiration of the 60-day cure period. 
 
 Fortunately, the Court need not resolve that issue of contractual construction, because 
there is no ambiguity as to what would be the triggering event that starts the 60-day clock 
(if there is one).  Section 5.12(a) provides: 
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In the event that the Directors appointed by the Investor Members determine in 
good faith that Good Cause (as defined below) exists or has arisen for the 
removal of the Manager, the Directors appointed by the Investor Members shall 
give written notice to Manager setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for their 
determination that Good Cause exists.  Any such determination will require the 
unanimous affirmative vote of the Directors appointed by the Investor Members, 
at a meeting called expressly for that purpose, or the unanimous written consent 
of such Directors.  [Emphasis added.] 
 

 Thus, there are two potential ways that the investor directors can make a formal 
determination of good cause: (1) at a board meeting, or; (2) by “unanimous written consent.”  
Following a determination of good cause made in one of these two ways, the investor directors 
“shall give written notice” setting forth the basis for the determination “in reasonable detail.”  
Removing the manager is obviously a drastic measure, and it seems reasonable to require fairly 
strict compliance with this contractual procedure for doing so.  
 
 Turning to the specifics of the current dispute, the only board meeting called expressly 
for the purpose of making a good cause determination was the board meeting of February 10, 
2017.  Defendant contests whether even that event triggered its time to request arbitration, 
because plaintiffs did not “give written notice” of the good cause determination after the board 
meeting, as required by Section 5.12(a).  The point is moot however, because it is undisputed 
that defendant’s letter of March 13, 2017 constituted its request for arbitration, and that is well 
within the 60-day deadline even if that deadline is calculated with reference to the February 10 
board meeting. 
 
 With regard to the alternative way of making a formal determination of good cause, 
“unanimous written consent,” the Court finds that none of the correspondence sent by plaintiffs 
or their attorneys prior to February 10 satisfies Section 5.12(a).  The letter of July 11, 2016 is 
cursory and ambiguous in nature; it can only fairly be interpreted as an invitation to negotiate a 
termination of the parties’ business relationship, and not as a formal determination of good 
cause triggering the 60-day time periods set by Section 5.12(a).  The subsequent letters were 
signed by plaintiffs’ attorneys, and not by plaintiffs themselves.  Further, the January 14, 2017 
letter raised new allegations of alleged misconduct, and must be deemed to have re-set any 
time periods that may have been triggered by previous correspondence.  The Court notes that 
the March 13, 2017 demand for arbitration is timely even if the time for requesting arbitration is 
calculated with reference to the January 14 letter. 
 
 Finally, with regard to non-contractual waiver, the Court finds that plaintiffs have failed to 
demonstrate substantial and unreasonable delay on defendant’s part.  Further, plaintiffs have 
failed to demonstrate substantial prejudice. 
 
 C. Stay. 
 
 This entire action is stayed, pending the outcome of the arbitration, other than any 
possible request for a preliminary injunction.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.4.)  This stay shall not 
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prevent plaintiffs from filing a motion for a preliminary injunction against defendant, assuming 
that seeking such relief is legally and factually justified.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.8.)  The Court 
exercises its discretion not to delay arbitration pending the trial of any non-arbitrable issues, and 
not to allow litigation to proceed in both forums simultaneously.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.2 and 
§ 1281.4.) 
 
 The parties are in agreement that Count 2, alleging a breach of the non-compete 
provision of the contract, is non-arbitrable.  However, the allegation of a non-compete breach 
has broader significance in this dispute than that.  As framed by the Complaint and the 
correspondence, plaintiffs’ assertion that defendant has breached the non-compete provision is 
also a major part of their assertion that “Good Cause” exists to terminate defendant’s 
managerial role.  Thus, unless plaintiffs are prepared to disclaim any reliance on the alleged 
non-compete breach as a potential ground for Good Cause, the non-compete issue must be 
squarely before the arbitrators in their determination of whether Good Cause exists.  The Court 
should not preempt the arbitral forum’s ability to address that issue.  (Of course, if plaintiffs seek 
a preliminary injunction, the Court may be called on to determine whether they have established 
a strong probability of prevailing; but the Court would not determine the issue definitively.) 
 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL07-02048 
CASE NAME: FIRESIDE BANK VS. HARRISON 
HEARING ON MOTION TO VACATE AND SET ASIDE DEFAULT 
FILED BY KRYSTAL J. HARRISON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The case has been dismissed by stipulation. 

 

  

18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL16-02278 
CASE NAME: BH FINANCIAL VS. PINE 
HEARING ON MOTION /FOR ORDER TO DEEM MATTERS ADMITTED 
FILED BY BH FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion to deem matters admitted is granted.  The matters requested in the Plaintiff’s First 

Set of Requests for Admissions (served 1/17/17) are deemed admitted.  Plaintiff’s counsel must 

lodge a proposed order with a declaration confirming that no responses were served prior to the 

hearing.  No sanctions are requested. 

In the event that defendant has served responses prior to the hearing, no matters will be 
deemed admitted. 
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19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL16-02488 
CASE NAME: TWO JINN INC. VS. JERMAINE GODFREY 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ORDER COMPELLING ANSWERS 
FILED BY TWO JINN, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion to compel answers to interrogatories, and to deem matters admitted, is denied 
without prejudice.  The motion improperly combines what should be two separate motions – a 
motion to compel as to the interrogatories, and a motion to deem matters admitted as to the 
requests for admission.  The various papers filed as part of the motion package are 
inconsistently captioned, rendering them confusing (especially to a pro per opponent) as to what 
exactly is being sought and on what basis.  Further, the papers are inconsistent and confusing 
in that the motion is directed to defendant Jermaine Godfrey (who has reportedly been 
dismissed), whereas the discovery at issue apparently relates to defendant Julia Godfrey.  The 
supporting papers use masculine pronouns, further confusing this issue.  Plaintiff filed a “First 
Amended Notice” of the motion directing the motion more clearly to Julia Godfrey, but there is 
no indication that this latter document was served. 
 
The Court further notes that if a motion to deem matters admitted is granted, it is likely to moot 
all or most of the failures to answer interrogatories. 
 
Plaintiff, if it wishes, may refile one or both of these motions within two weeks of today’s date.  If 
plaintiff elects to refile the motion to compel, it should indicate which (if any) of the 
interrogatories at issue would remain relevant if the motion to deem matters admitted is granted. 
 
The Court further notes that plaintiff’s motion papers do not comply with CRC 3.1110(f) and 
Local Rule 3.42 concerning tabbing of exhibits.  Counsel is directed to review these rules and 
comply with them as to any future filings.  Failure to do so may result in rejection or disregard of 
nonconforming papers. 
 

  

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-0180 
CASE NAME: RE: LON LUCKY 
HEARING ON PETITION FOR APPROVAL OF TRANSFER OF STRUCTURED 
SETTLEMENT PAYMENTS  /  FILED BY STONE STREET CAPITAL, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Transferor Lucky and counsel for petitioner Stone Street Capital should appear.  CourtCall 
is acceptable. 
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21.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-0722 
CASE NAME: MATTER OF CARDAI THOMPSON 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The proposed minor’s compromise is approved. 
 

  

22.  TIME:  9:30   CASE#: MSC16-00279 
CASE NAME: ASHFORD WALNUT CREEK VS. MAHATMA EDUCATION SOCIETY 
HEARING ON DEFAULT  ( PROVE-UP ) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Counsel to appear. 
 

 

 


